
 

 

Corporate Parenting 
Panel 
Agenda 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To: Councillor Maria Gatland (Chair) 

  
 Councillors Tamar Barrett, Mike Bonello, Amy Foster, Joseph Lee, 

Ian Parker, Helen Redfern and Catherine Wilson 
 

 Co-optee Members 
 
Virtual School: Shelley Davies, Sarah Bailey  
CLA Designated Health Professionals: Dr Julia Simpson, Charity  
Kanotangudza  
Health Commissioner Representative  
EMPIRE: Young People and Council Staff  
Care Leaver Representative  
Foster Carer Representatives: Angela Christmas, Manny Kwamin  
 

 
A meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel which you are hereby summoned to 
attend, will be held on Wednesday, 29 November 2023 at 5.00 pm in Room 1.01 
and 1.02 - Bernard Weatherill House, Mint Walk, Croydon CR0 1EA  
 
 
KATHERINE KERSWELL 
Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service 
London Borough of Croydon 
Bernard Weatherill House 
8 Mint Walk, Croydon CR0 1EA 

Michelle Ossei-Gerning 
michelle.gerning@croydon.gov.uk 
www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings  
Tuesday, 21 November 2023 

 
The agenda papers for all Council meetings are available on the Council website 
www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings 
 
If you require any assistance, please contact Michelle Ossei-Gerning as detailed 
above 

Public Document Pack

http://www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings
http://www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings


 

 

AGENDA – PART A 
  

1.   Apologies for absence  
 To receive any apologies for absence from any members of the Panel. 

  
  

2.   Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 5 - 12) 
 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday 20 

September 2023 as an accurate record. 
  
  

3.   Disclosures of interest  
 Members are invited to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests 

(DPIs) and other registrable and non-registrable interests they may have 
in relation to any items(s) of business on today’s agenda.  
  
  

4.   Urgent  Business (if any)  
 To receive notice of any business not on the agenda which in the 

opinion of the Chair, by reason of special circumstances, be considered 
as a matter of urgency. 
  
  

5.   Update on actions agreed at previous meeting(s)  
 
  

6.   Update from Children's Participation Team & Children in Care 
Council  

 To receive a verbal update from the Children’s Participation Team and 
Children in Care Council. 
  

7.   Housing Sub-Group discussion - Housing Priority 1 of the 
Corporate Parenting Strategy (Pages 13 - 16) 

 A report of the Housing Sub-Group. 
  

8.   Local Offer for Care Experienced Young People (Pages 17 - 44) 
 The Croydon’s Local Offer to our Care Experienced Young People 

2023-2024 is attached. 
  

9.   Communicating the Local Offer for Care Experienced Young 
People  

 A Board exercise. 
  



 

 

3

10.   Performance Report (Pages 45 - 50) 
   

The Performance report for October 2023 is attached 
 
  

11.   Exclusion of the Press and Public  
 The following motion is to be moved and seconded where it is proposed 

to exclude the press and public from the remainder of a meeting: 
 
“That, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act, 1972, the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information falling within those paragraphs indicated in Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended.” 
 

 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Corporate Parenting Panel 
 

Meeting of Corporate Parenting held on Wednesday, 20 September 2023 at 5.00pm in 
F10, Town Hall, Katharine Street, Croydon CR0 1NX 

 
MINUTES 

 
Present: 
 

Councillor Maria Gatland (Chair); 

 Councillors Tamar Barrett, Amy Foster, Joseph Lee, Ian Parker, Helen Redfern 
and Catherine Wilson 
 
Co-optee Members 
Shelly Davies (Director of Education) 
Lajay Taylor (EMPIRE) 
Manny Kwamin (Foster Carer Representative) 
Angela Christmas (Foster Carer Representative) 
Julia Simpson (Children Looked After Designated Doctor) 
Charity Kanotangudza (Children Looked After Designated Nurse)  

Also  
Present: 

 
Adam Feron-Stanley (Service Manager) 
Jane Scott (Transformation Lead) 
Anton Stewart (Strategic Lead for Children in Care and Care Leavers) 
Ana Rasheed (National Management Trainee) 
Simon Townsend (Head of Performance and Business Improvement) 
Simon Robsen (Director of Adult Social Care Operations – Deputy DASS) 
Joel Pace (CICC Coordinator) 
Tom Hurst (Service Manager 16+ and Placements Service) 
Carolyn Jones (Interim Head in Service Children in Care and Care) 
Briege Gilhooly (Interim Head of Specialist Services for Children and Young 
People) 
Shelley Prince (Head of Commissioning and Procurement – CYP&E) 
Mary Larbie (Interim Director of Tenancy) 
Mohamed Hasan (Head of Social Work with Families) 
Leana Ebanks (Head of Specialist Services) 
Alison Welsh (Leaving Care NEET Officer) 
T’Shawn (Care Leaver) 
Child K (Young Person in Foster Care) 
 

Apologies: Councillor Tamar Barrett for lateness 
Roisin Madden (Director for Children and Young People) 

  
 

PART A 
  

40/23   
 

Minutes of the previous meeting 
 

The minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday 21 June 2023 were agreed 
as an accurate record. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 

 
 

  
  

41/23   
 

Disclosures of interest 
 

There were none. 
  
  

42/23   
 

Urgent Business (if any) 
 

There was none. 
 
  

43/23   
 

Update on actions agreed at previous meeting(s) 
 
There was none. 
 
  

44/23   
 

Welcome to new members & confirmation of the new Terms of Reference 
 
The Chair welcomed new members to the Corporate Parenting Panel [which 
would be changing its name to the Corporate Parenting Board] and noted the 
new Terms of Reference which was agreed at a previous meeting, highlighting 
the aims and objectives, and noting the importance to develop the view of 
Children in Care Council, well planned visits and to ensure that Board Members 
were committed in Sub-Groups. 
 
A few changes in the Membership to note: 
 

- that Members of the Council were to be appointed by their groups and 
not by the Chair as noted in the terms which would be revised.  

- The abbreviation ‘NHS’ in NHS Commissioner should be revised to ‘ICB’ 
to be specific to Croydon. 

 
The Terms of Reference would be reviewed annually. 
 
   

45/23   
 

Update from Children's Participation Team & Children in Care Council 
 
The Corporate Parenting Panel received a presentation from Adam, Joel, and 
two care experienced young people to provide an update.  
 
The Panel heard from a care leaver (representing EMPIRE) and a young person 
in foster care who shared the Corporate Parenting Principles and what principle 
stood out for them: 
 

1. To act in the best interests, and promote the physical and mental health 
and well-being, of children and young people. 

2. To encourage those children and young people to express their views, 
wishes and feelings.  

Page 6



 

 
 

3. To take into account the views, wishes and feelings of those children and 
young people.  

4. To help those children and young people gain access to, and make the 
best use of, services provided by the local authority and its relevant 
partners.  

5. To promote high aspirations, and seek to secure the best outcomes, for 
those children and young people. 

6. For those children and young people to be safe, and for stability in their 
home lives, relationships and education or work.  

7. To prepare those children and young people for adulthood and 
independent living. 

 
The Panel heard that from the young people’s lived experience, their views, 
wishes and feelings were not often taken into account, though they recognised 
through attending the Panel meetings that changes in putting the child’s voice 
first were adapted. Further, preparation for young people into adulthood and 
independent living, and providing young people with access to services have 
proven that young people have limited knowledge and access to the “pack” that 
details things young people would be entitled to. 
 
The Chair welcomed the young people’s voices.  
 
The Panel reflected on the voices from the young people and recognised that 
more work was required to share information in placing young people with foster 
carers in an emergency and non-emergency situation to ensure that the needs 
of the young person would be met.  
 
Further, the Panel reflected on the “pack” [the local offer], and how it was 
communicated to young people. Officers are exploring an ‘app’ for our Care 
Leavers which could provide up to date information which is more visible and 
accessible to them. It was also mentioned that the maintenance and local offer 
were different. This was discussed further in the local offer item of the meeting. 
 
Action: For the Panel to receive an update of what has happened following 
what had been discussed. 
 
The Panel received an update of what the Children in Care Council (CICC) had 
been up to since July 2023 which included: 
 

- The introduction of the new Coordinator  
 

- Providing fun opportunities for young people to stay engaged during the 
summer break through nine summer provision, which had seen over forty 
young people participate in those provisions (which included a trip to the 
Urban Farm, Go Karting, Ice Skating and Dinner and Movies to name a 
few) 

 
- To have the CICC young people continue to be provided opportunities to 

have their voiced heard over the summer. This included the start of a 
focus group working with adults (of Virtual College [to be rebranded to 

Page 7



 

 
 

Triple E: Education, Employment and Experience]), to identify support 
most needed through a digital or online presence to ensure their entrance 
and journey through college or employment was successful; attending a 
site visit to the YMCA’s Y Cube Mitcham as Croydon Council explored 
bringing a similar housing model to Croydon for care experienced young 
people, and being involved in the process. 

 
Further scheduled activities included: 
 

- The House Project which was co-designed with young people and 
worked on cooperative principles through which adults and young people 
in and leaving care work together to create their first homes, build a long-
term community of support and develop pathways into education, 
employment and training. If approved, the CICC panel of young people 
would work on a pitch to Croydon Council leadership on why the House 
Project should be brought to Croydon. 
 

- The Corporate Parenting Board Co-Chair. This saw twenty potential 
candidates for the position to work alongside the Chair. The Co-Chair 
would be supported by the CICC staff member and would work to assure 
that the Corporate Parenting Board was authentically engaging young 
people in the board meetings. 

 
- Ambassadors, who were young people ages 12 to 25 years old who has 

had experience of receiving support from Children’s Services and would 
want to improve the services for other children and young 
people. Ambassadors would play various roles including serving on 
interview panels, doing site visits, co-facilitating trainings with adults, and 
interviewing other youth who would be compensated for their time 

 
The Service was growing which was positive to the CIC and exciting new 
sessions for looked after children was to be incorporated to support young 
people who were underrepresented on the CICC. 
 
The Panel welcomed the update from officers.  
 
  

46/23   
 

Corporate Parenting Strategy implementation - Action Planning 
 
The Corporate Parenting Panel took part in discussion around the action plan 
for the Corporate Parenting Strategy implementation, which was presented by 
the Transformation Lead, Jane Scott. 
 
The purpose of this exercise was to understand and support the process and 
development of what the 3-year Corporate Parenting Strategy looked like. 
 
The action plan included the immediate development of the Corporate Parenting 
Strategy, which was scheduled to launch in November of this year. 
As part of the new way in working, the Panel would be introducing a co-chair 
where a number of young people would be coached to commit for six or twelve 

Page 8



 

 
 

months, and also be part of the sub-groups. There would also be ambassadors 
[who were young people] work alongside with the Members and co-opted 
Members providing specialised knowledge. Recruitment process was 
currenting taking place to ensure posts were filled in due course. Further a 
protocol to implement the changes of membership under the terms of reference 
was the next steps. There was also the Corporate Parenting Board visit 
programme which was ongoing and further induction training was provided to 
the new Board Members.  
 
The strategic implementation was aligned to the four key areas within the 
Strategy. This would see a priority group report back to the Panel on challenges 
and strengths. 
 
The evaluation part of the plan was to evaluate the process of the new 
Corporate Parenting Board, the approaches and strategy with focus on 
consultation with care experienced young people on their views of the 
effectiveness of what would being achieved.  
 
The Panel discussed the strategy action plan, what the changes and settings 
would look like to include young people. It was acknowledged that a lot of the 
work had already started in the background and more work was in progress to 
continue to meet the timescales set. 
 
While the Chair welcomed the action plan and recognised the huge amount of 
work that had gone into the new strategy, panel noted that some of the proposed 
timescales didn’t appear achievable, and the Chair challenged officers in 
respect of the importance of no further delay. The Chair will look  forward to the  
implementation of the strategy. 
  
  

47/23   
 

Local Offer for Care Leavers 
 
The Corporate Parenting Panel considered the report of the Local Offer for Care 
Leavers which provided an update on the work being undertaken to revise 
Croydon’s local offer to our Care Experienced Adults aged 18-25. 
 
The Panel received a presentation from the Service Manager Young People’s 
16+ and Placements Service, Tom Hurst, who informed that the last Local Offer 
for Care Leavers was last updated in 2021-2022. Since then, the document was 
to be simplified and more coherent to young people. The young people would 
be able to review what was expected from the council as their Corporate Parents 
in Croydon. 
 
The legislative framework was found in section 2 of the Children and Social 
Work Act 2017. 
 
The presentation in summary highlighted that the revised Local Offer had been 
written paying attention to the statutory guidance to include a focus on health 
and wellbeing; relationships; education and training; employment; 
accommodation and participation in society. 

Page 9



 

 
 

 
The updated Local Offer which was currently in draft would be produced to be 
an accessible document to be published online and printed in a brochure format 
for social workers and personal advisors to share with their young persons. The 
Local Offer was also to be made available via a Care Leavers App and was to 
be revised in six months.  
 
The Panel discussed the local offer, specifically in relation to the visibility and 
communication of it with young people. 
 
In regard to the question relating to why some young people were not aware of 
the local offer, officers commented that we need to be assured that young 
people are aware of the local offer and shared that the service was looking into 
a new model of intervention and the whole approach was of a co-production, 
multiagency, to help establish better feedback to young people. Officers are 
clear that visits to see our young people should reference conversations and 
reference to how the Local Offer could support them. Further, foster carers were 
also to be included in sharing information with young people, ensuring a joined-
up approach. 
 
The Panel further discussed on how partners could share the information and 
how the local offer was communicated more widely, to minimise any difficulties 
in finding up to date information. Additionally, the way in which young people 
received the information should be revised.  
The Panel discussed that making the Local Offer visible and accessible to young 
people could be better communicated with them. Opportunities for signposting 
and accessed was to be considered.  
The Panel noted that what was on the Local Offer for young people should not 
only be about where it could be accessed, but also how the detail within the 
offer could be further reviewed.  
 
In regard to the question relating to how to differentiate the local offer to those 
children placed in the same household from a different local authority, officers 
ensured that joint co-ordination work should be communicated between the 
social workers to avoid any confusion in what each child was entitled to. 
 
Action: For the Local Offer to return to Panel and clarity for how the Local 
Offer was communicated.  
Following panel officers offered two workshops for panel to attend and 
share their views about the content of the Local Offer. 
 
The Panel RESOLVED:  
 
1.1. To note the contents and provide comment and challenge to the updated 

Local Offer. 
1.2. To endorse the updated Local Offer. 
1.3. Provide agreement for the draft Local Offer to be shared with Esther and 

Children in Care Council groups, following Corporate Parenting Board 
consideration, to provide for further consultation and co-production. 

 

Page 10



 

 
 

 
 
  

48/23   
 

Treating Care Experience as a Protected Characteristic 
 
The Panel received verbal information from Jane Scott pertaining the option to 
consider the issue of a Protected Characteristic for Care Experienced Adults, 
and panel’s view was that a new task and finish group to look further into ‘care 
experienced young people’ being given the status protected characteristic, 
which would include the engagement of young people and Board Members in 
the process, would be helpful. This followed a debate at a previous Full Council 
meeting which was an action to this Panel. 
 
  

49/23   
 

Performance Report 
 
The Corporate Parenting Panel considered the Performance Report introduced 
by the Head of Performance and Business Improvement, Simon Townsend.  
 
The report focused on key indicators for looked after children. 
 
The Panel raised some concerns on the style of the performance report that did 
not address the tracking progress with whether the figures have gone up or 
down and whether there were improvements. A snapshot with more in-depth 
information was to be considered. Other comments included that the 
percentages produced were helpful but the graphs not so much. Other concerns 
noted that the report did not highlight what Panel Members should consider, and 
the paper should reflect what Members would want to see. Officers addressed 
that the performance report shows a reflection of the inspection framework, 
practice framework and corporate parenting strategy framework. Officers 
informed that the paper brought an indication of the work and outcomes sought 
to be achieved and noted for future performance reports to have the data 
interpretated for Panel Members and the desire to address what was required. 
Panel members requested data, rather than reports, to enable them to choose 
their own avenues of scrutiny and challenge. 
 
The data provided within the paper highlighted improvement following the last 
Panel meeting particularly in regard to the pathway plans. There had been a 
significant improvement in the pathway plans recorded within time scales. Work 
was still continuing in the background to maintain performance for pathway 
plans, and to consider how we achieve consistently good quality plans for our 
young adults. 
 
With regards to the fostering households, the data within the report had shown 
this had declined, which was due to retirement of foster carers, health, though 
the service had met targets to recruit fifteen a year bringing positive recruitment 
and activity. There was also support for existing foster carers with the 
introduction of fostering hub.  
 

Page 11



 

 
 

The Chair welcomed the update from officers and the transformation of the 
service.  
 
In regard to the question relating to the number of dentists being so low, the 
Panel heard that some of the foster carers were still post covid recovery having 
difficulty in registering their children with a dentist. Support have been provided 
to assist in assigning dental practice within South West London which cause 
delay, further there were some dentistry delaying on taking on new patients.  
Further information shared to the Panel addressed the number of dentists that 
had closed during the Pandemic which also had significant impact. 
 
Regarding the question relating to placements and accommodation for over 
18s, the Panel heard that there was little data for post 18’s as placements were 
provided through the housing pathway, though there was data for semi-
independence placements. Officers informed that they were accommodating an 
18 plus accommodation pathway for access and monitoring. The Housing 
protocol was also to be aligned to the new data development, which would add 
to the improvement in data.  
 
In regard to the question relating to an update on CAMHS referrals allocated 
within a timely manner, officers informed of a recent appointment of two 
specialist health nurses incorporated within the teams and were placed within 
the local authority social care workers, as well as the children looked after 
nurses, in the aim to improve practice with access to resources within the 
community and developing the work streams and how things would be reported.  
 
  

50/23   
 

Exclusion of the Press and Public 
 

This was not required. 
 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 6.50 pm 
 

 
Signed:   

Date:   

 

Page 12



 

 

LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 
REPORT: 
 

 Corporate Parenting Panel 
 

DATE OF DECISION 29.11.23 
 

REPORT TITLE: 
 

Housing Priority 1 of the Corporate Parenting Strategy 
 

CORPORATE 
DIRECTOR / 
DIRECTOR:  
 

Corporate Director, Children, Young People and Education, 
Debbie Jones. 

Director of Children’s Services, Roisin Madden. 
 

LEAD OFFICER: Jane Scott, Corporate Parenting Transformation Lead. 
Email: jane.scott@croydon.gov.uk.     

Telephone:   Softphone 22849.  
 

 
LEAD MEMBER: Cllr Maria Gatland, Lead Member for Children’s Services. 

 
 

 

1 REPORT 
 

1.1 Croydon Council has developed a Corporate Parenting Strategy which has Housing 
development and improvement for Care Experienced Young People as one of our four 
priorities.  The whole council and partnership approach which underpins the strategic 
vision has a focus on ensuring all our young people leaving care will have the best 
start in life and experience a supportive and positive transition into independence.  This 
includes good preparation for living independently, choice of area, quality of housing 
to create a new home and financial resilience to create the stability required to enable 
a positive transition into adulthood.  As Corporate Parents we need to ensure that we 
have a flexible approach when our young people make mistakes and need support and 
guidance whilst celebrating success and achievement. 

 
1.2 The first Corporate Parenting Housing Subgroup was held on the 16.11.23 and was 

chaired by Housing Directors, Mary Larbie and Beatrice Cingtho-Taylor. The subgroup 
participants included our participation team supporting a young person to talk about 
his views on housing and involvement in developing a House Project in Croydon. 
Colleagues were able to discuss clarity required regarding the housing local offer at 
present with a view to updates whilst improvement work is undertaken through the 
corporate parenting programme. Actions taken from this subgroup included more 
working together between housing and children’ social care staff and foster carers to 
clarify the processes and opportunities for young people to receive support and 
suitable housing in safe areas, starting with a workshop with young people on 
designing and informing ‘lettable standards’, drawing on the expertise and knowledge 
of members of the subgroup.   

Page 13

Agenda Item 7



 

 

  
1.3 The Housing improvement transformation work is pulled together this month starting 

with a large workshop to create workstreams where housing and children’s social care 
staff will come together to identify key milestones and timelines to drive the activity and 
momentum around work that has been front loaded to date. Examples of the front 
loading incorporate engagement, planning and contract development to enable the 
House Project to go live from January 2024.  Regeneration planning has incorporated 
activity around visits to two YMCA projects involving young people and our Director of 
Children’s services, the most recent of which was on the 17.11.23. Our regeneration 
colleagues are scoping possible land opportunities in Croydon for a new modular build 
specifically for Care Experienced Young People with the option of a possible shared 
housing model for 16–22-year-olds requiring more support.  We are very excited about 
the positive feedback from young people and eagerly anticipate their involvement in 
designing and creating new opportunities for stable homes. 

2 RECOMMENDATIONS 

For the reasons set out in the report the Corporate Parenting Board l is recommended: 

 

2.1 to note the above developments and information 

 

3 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

3.1 To support the implementation of the Corporate Parenting Strategy  
 

 
 

7. CONTRIBUTION TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES  
 

7.1 The proposals contained within this report contribute to the following outcome in the 
Mayors Business Plan for 2022- 2026.  
 
• Children and young people in Croydon have the chance to thrive, learn and fulfil 

their potential.   

 
8. IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1.1 Incorporated in transformation planning. 

 
8.2 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

 

Page 14



 

 

8.2.1 These have been considered as part of the wider Corporate parenting strategy. 
 

8.3 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS  
A EQIA assessment has been undertaken and highlighted how improvements will 
incorporate equalities into housing developments. 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Croydon’s Local Offer for our 
Care Experienced young people

2023 - 2024

Page 17

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
B
L
A
N
K  
 
F
O 
R  
 
F 
R
O
N
T 
P
A
G
E 
 
 

Page 19



 
  
2  

Welcome to Croydon’s Local Offer to our Care 
Experienced young people 2023-2024  
 
In Croydon we believe that everyone in society has a responsibility to help those who have been in care 
to overcome any difficulties they might have experienced in their childhoods, so that they can lead 
successful lives.  

  
It is our responsibility to make sure you know what services are available to you, and what you can 
expect to receive when you leave care. As a Care Experienced member of the Croydon community, you 
should have all the opportunities possible to achieve your goals and aspirations. Sometimes this 
requires extra support, and this document outlines the main areas of support available and if what you 
need is not here, just ask and we will look into it with you.  

  
As your Corporate Parents, we want to make sure that you know where and who to go to for advice 
and help. Just because you are leaving care, or have already left care, we haven’t stopped caring 
about you and will be here whenever you need us.  

  
Croydon’s Local Offer contains information about all the support and services that we have in Croydon 
for you as you move into adulthood when you turn 18. We have worked with care experienced young 
people and young people to put this offer together. We will continue to listen to your views to make sure 
the services we provide are what you need.  

  
  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Contents  
  
Welcome to Croydon’s Local Offer to our Care Experienced young people 2023-2024             2  

What is a Corporate Parent? ___________________________________________________4  

Croydon Young People’s 16+ Service ____________________________________________4  

Our promise to you __________________________________________________________5  

Page 20



 
  
3  

What is the difference between a Social Worker and a Personal Advisor? _______________6  

What is a Pathway Plan? ______________________________________________________7  

The Care Leaver Covenant ____________________________________________________7  

Getting involved_____________________________________________________________8  

Money matters, official documents and birthdays _________________________________10  

Moving home or accommodation ______________________________________________14  

Education, employment and training ___________________________________________18  

University students _________________________________________________________18  

Travel costs _______________________________________________________________19  

Health and wellbeing _______________________________________________________19  

Care experienced young people who are parents _________________________________23  

Care experienced young people in custody ______________________________________24  

Care experienced unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people ____________________24  

Care experienced young people aged 21 and over 25’s _____________________________25  

Advocacy, complaints and independent visitors __________________________________26  

Keeping safe _______________________________________________________________27  

Facing hardship ____________________________________________________________27  

Contact details _____________________________________________________________28  

 
What is a Corporate Parent?  

When you came into our care, Croydon Council became your Corporate Parent. Put simply, the term 
‘Corporate  
Parent’ means the collective responsibility of all council departments, elected members, and partner 
agencies (for example health or education providers) for providing the best possible care for the children 
and young people who are cared for by us.  

  
The Children and Social Work Act 2017 introduced 7 corporate parenting principles, which we must take 
into account in supporting you:  

  
1. To act in your best interests, and promote the physical and mental health and well-being, of all care 

leavers.  

Page 21



 
  
4  

2. To encourage every care leaver to express their views, wishes and feelings.  

3. To take into account the views, wishes and feelings of every care leaver.  

4. To help care leavers gain access to, and make the best use of, services provided by the local 
authority (Croydon Council) and its relevant partners (for example health or education services).   

5. To promote high aspirations, and seek to secure the best outcomes, for care leavers.  

6. For care leavers to be safe, with stability in their home lives, relationships and education or work.  

7. To prepare care leavers for adulthood and independent living.  
  

Croydon Young People’s 16+ Service  
Croydon Young People’s 16+ Service is made up 
of 11 Young People’s teams. Each team is made 
up of social workers and personal advisors 
supported by a team manager. If you are in care 
and under 18 years of age, you will be supported 
by a social worker. In some circumstances your 
social worker will continue to support you after 
you turn 18.  A personal advisor from the team 
will be responsible for supporting you after you 
turn 18 unless it has been agreed that your social 
worker will continue to support you after you turn 
18 if that is the right decision for you. Your 
personal advisor will be introduced to you when 
you are 17 so that you can get to know your personal advisor before you turn 18.  Your social worker or 
personal advisor will support you and provide you with assistance until you are at least 21. If you want 
to continue to receive support or are in education a personal advisor will be able to support you up to 
the age of 25.  
 
 

Our promise to you  
The Young People’s 16+ Service developed our Good Practice Promises with children in care 
and care experienced young people:    

  

I will show that I Hear you by:  
✓ Listening to your views  

✓ Exploring ways to achieve what 
you want  

I will show that I See you by:  
✓ Visiting when I say I will  

✓ Noticing how you are feeling  

Page 22



 
  
5  

  
I will show that I Care about you by:  

✓ Worrying about your safety  

✓ Remembering important events for 
you, such as your Birthday  

  
  
We will support you by:  
  
✓ Providing you with your own allocated worker and make sure you know who you can contact if 

they are not available. They will keep in touch and visit regularly.  

✓ Talk to you about when you and your family can see or contact each other and support travel 
arrangements and if you can’t, we’ll explain why.  

✓ Keep brothers and sisters together, wherever possible.  

✓ Regularly review how well we are keeping our promises to you and that your pathway plan is up 
to date.  

✓ Make sure that young people, such as carers and workers, get the right training to understand 
the issues that affect children in care and care experienced young people, so that you get the 
best care possible.  

✓ Make sure you know how to complain and help to resolve complaints as quickly as possible.  

                  

What is difference between a Social Worker and 
a Personal Advisor?  

The most important role of your social worker and personal advisor is to be a trusted adult for children 
and young people, to be a source of guidance, support, and information.  
 
Social workers have legal responsibilities for children in care up to the age of 18 and they may continue 
working with you after you turn 18 where that is the right decision.  
 
Your social worker will develop your first pathway plan, conduct any assessments, and liaise with other 
services on your behalf.   

  
Personal advisors advise and support young people from 17 through to 25, when care experienced 
young people no longer need a social worker, then a personal advisor will be your main allocated worker.  
 

Page 23



 
  
6  

Your social worker or personal advisor will visit you regularly and provide you with their contact details. 
They will also:  

 
✓ Help you to understand what support is available, so that you can make informed choices.  

✓ Review your Pathway Plan with you at least every 6 months.  

✓ Help you to develop links in the community where you live.   

✓ Support you to develop the necessary skills to live independently.  

✓ Support you to gain work experience, employment and training.  

✓ Support you to understand your identity and background and help you develop positive and 
lasting relationships with family and friends.  

✓ Encourage you to develop confidence and self-esteem, and the ability to voice your opinions and 
thoughts on key issues that affect you.  

 

 
 
 
 
What is a Pathway Plan?  

When you turn 15 years and 9 months your social worker will meet with you to start your pathway plan. 
Every young person between the ages of 16 and 21 in care or leaving care has a pathway plan and up 
to 25 if you still want a service after you turn 21 or are in education.  
  
Your first pathway plan will be based on and will include your care plan and personal education plan. It 
will be written with you by your social worker and a personal advisor may support.  
  
The pathway plan has information on the best way to support you towards full independence and 
adulthood. It will cover your education, employment, health, finance, social needs, relationships and 
where you will live. Your plan will be written in a way that should meet your individual needs, it will 
capture your hopes for the future and include your views. It will be regularly reviewed with you, at least 
every six months, to check that your goals are still right and are being met.  

  

The Care Leaver Covenant  
 

Page 24



 
  
7  

Have you heard about The Care Leaver Covenant?  
The covenant is a pledge made by public, private 
and voluntary organisations to Care Experienced 
young people including opportunities with 
employment, work placements, internships with 
big businesses, government departments, 
museums, theatres, or Premier League football 
clubs, as well as training workshops or life-skills 
coaching. There are also resources and tools 
from Barclays Life Skills to help to manage your 
money. 
 

 
Speak to your Personal Advisor for more information about the Care Leaver Covenant or visit the website 
to sign up alerts about opportunities including work and education, through to recreational offers and 
giveaways. Visit: Connects Sign-up - Care Leaver Covenant (mycovenant.org.uk) 
www.mycovenant.org.uk  

  
 
 
   

  
 

Getting involved  
We want all our Care Experienced young people to be active members of society. As your corporate 
parents we will be there to offer you advice and support. An important part of staying mentally and 
physically healthy is enjoying hobbies and interests.  

  
Some of the ways you can take part to stay active and engaged with local services include:  

  
Free leisure centre membership  
As a Care Experienced young 
person you can access UK wide 
free membership to the BETTER 
leisure centres. There are 12 
centres in Croydon. Each centre 
has a:  

   
● Swimming pool  

● Gym  

● Exercise classes  

  

Page 25

http://www.mycovenant.org.uk/


 
  
8  

✓ We can make an agreement through your pathway plan about how we can support you to get 
involved in sporting activities or other leisure activities near where you live. Your personal advisor 
will have details of clubs, community groups, and activities which may interest you.  

  
Your right to vote in elections.   
  
All democratic countries have rules about who has the right to vote in elections. This is usually based on 
nationality, age, and residence. When you turn 18 you must register to vote if you’re asked to do so and 
you meet the conditions for registering, for example you’re 18 or over and you’re British or a national of 
an EU or Commonwealth country. The electoral register (sometimes called the ‘electoral roll’) lists the 
names and addresses of everyone who’s registered to vote in local and general elections. You will need 
photo ID such as passport or driving license to be able to vote in elections.  
 
✓ Your personal advisor can assist you to enrol on the electoral register.  

  
Children in Care Council (E.M.P.I.R.E) 
We want to hear your views so we can improve the lives of Care Experienced young people. E.M.P.I.R.E 
is a collective of young people who are all cared for by Croydon. The purpose of E.MP.I.R.E is to 
empower Children in Care and Care Experienced young people with the confidence and power to 
influence policy change, shape the service and have their voice heard. E.M.P.I.R.E will provide young 
people the chance to identify common issues with the care they receive and make proposals for 
improvements. All of which are presented to the Corporate Parenting Panel at Croydon Council, Chaired 
by the Cabinet Member for Children and Young People.  
 
Legacy Youth Zone  
Legacy Youth Zone is open 7 days a week, and offer over 20 activities to discover, learn and excel at. 
We will pay for all children looked after and care experienced young people. Legacy Membership for 
young aged 8- 19, and up to 25 for those with disabilities. https://www.legacyyouthzone.org.  

  

  
  
  

Page 26

http://www.legacyyouthzone.org/
http://www.legacyyouthzone.org/


 
  
9  

Esther support group  
We’re proud to run a support group that brings both Looked After children and care leavers together in 
a friendly, safe environment where they can develop independent skills. Esther Outreach is a voluntarily 
run initiative that provides practical support, advice and advocacy to care leavers. The practical support 
covers everything from assistance in finding work all the way through to preparing meals. Past 
workshops have covered money management, drug awareness, parenting, cooking on a budget and 
creative art. There are two regular groups that run at the Turnaround Centre from 6.30-8.30pm as 
follows: Young men Meeting on the first Wednesday of every month. Young women Meeting on the third 
Wednesday of every month. To sign up you can phone either 07847 844 269 or 07783 894 358, or email 
estheroutreach@wwmf.org  

  
The Princes Trust  
The Princes Trust offer a number of opportunities for Care Experienced young people with support 
available between the aged 16-30. Including a ‘Step Into Adulthood’ programme which offers support 
around managing money and bills, cooking, networking with professionals, CV writing, community 
support groups and training and employment opportunities. Speak to your personal advisor who can 
support you to access the service or contact LondonGetStarted@princes-trust.org.uk for more 
information or call 0800 842 842.  

  

✓ We can help you to get involved with EMPIRE, Legacy Youth Zone, Esther support, The Princes 
Trust or any other local groups which you might be interested in attending.  

  

Money matters, official documents and 
birthdays  
Your personal advisor will help you to manage your money and understand any benefits you may be 
entitled to. In addition, your personal advisor will make sure that there is someone to support you in the 
event of a crisis or when things do not go according to plan.   Although you may still receive some 
financial support once you are 18, you will be expected to find your income from work, education grants 
and, if eligible, benefits.  

  
Your social worker or personal advisor will:  
  
✓ Help you to open your own bank account and how to manage your money, so that you avoid getting 

into debt.  

✓ Help you to get identification documents, (important pieces of paper about you) such as a passport, 
birth certificate and provisional driving license.  

✓ Help you to get your National Insurance (NI) number. This is a number you receive an adult individual 
to you so that records about benefits, taxes and pensions are kept. You will need this for any future 
employer. Your worker might write a letter or help you fill in a form to apply for it before you leave care.  

✓ Help you to access Department of Work and Pensions for advice.  

Page 27



 
  
10  

✓ Help you when you make your first claim for benefits at 18, by supporting you with a personal 
allowance for up to six weeks while your benefits claim is being processed. You are allowed to claim 
benefits up to one month before you turn 18 and will be supported to do so.  

✓ Help you if you are unable to claim benefits by supporting you financially for a longer period while your 
entitlements are being established, as set out in your Pathway Plan.  

✓ Help you to purchase furniture and white goods, such as washing machines and fridges, when you 
are setting up your home through a setting up home allowance.  

✓ Support you to apply for a HC2 or HC3 which is an exemption certificate which would mean that 
optical, dental and prescription costs would either be fully or partially covered. The Young People’s 
16+ Service can offer support to cover the cost of your prescriptions if you do not qualify. Speak to 
your personal advisor who can support you with claiming the costs.  

 

    

 
Help with your council tax bill  
 
Council Tax is a payment made to your local authority for local services such as collecting your rubbish 
clearing streets, running services and the local parks.   

 

✓ Croydon Council gives exemption from the Council tax bill for Care experienced young people up 
the age of 25 living in Croydon so you don’t have to pay it.   

✓ Care Experienced young people who are living outside of Croydon will be assisted to claim any 
local Council tax exemption or support where available. Where Care Experienced young people 
are living outside of Croydon remain responsible for all, or part of their Council Tax bill, Croydon 
Young People’s 16+ Service will pay the bill on your behalf.   
 

Remembering your birthday  
  
Birthdays are an important milestone. If you are actively engaged with the Croydon Young People’s 16+ 
Service you will receive either a gift or equivalent amount to the value of:  
  

✓ £100 on 18th and 21st Birthday and £50 on your 19th and 20th birthdays.  

✓ On your special 18th and 21st Birthday will be marked with a meal for you with your Personal 
Advisor up to the value of £50.   

 
This table sets out the financial entitlements available to our care experienced young people who have 
former relevant status: 

  
Allowance  Amount  Eligibility  

Page 28



 
  
11  

Living costs (Maintenance 
allowance)  

Up to £67.20 per week (from 
April 2023)  + Equivalent child 
benefit amount where not in 
receipt: (£21 per week for 1st 
child; £14 per week  other 
children)  

Subject to employment, 
education and training and 
immigration status. Must be 
engaging with Pathway 
Planning. Paid whilst waiting for 
initial Benefit Claim.  

Accommodation  Costs met in full up to age of 18.  
  
Deposit and Rent in advance up 
to Local Housing Allowance rate.  
  
Rent Guarantor scheme for 
University accommodation.  

Must be a Croydon Care  
Experienced young person 18-
25.  

Allowance  Amount  Eligibility  
Council Tax  Full cost met – balance paid 

after any local exemptions 
applied.  

Must be a Croydon Care  
Experienced adult 18-25.  

Starting work grant  £150  One off- for interview clothes, 
protective clothes.  

Birthday allowances  £100 at age 17,18 & 21  
  
£50 at aged 19 and 20  

Paid if actively engaged with the  
Croydon Young People’s 16+ 
Service  

Health  Up to £300 per year towards 
the cost of opticians/glasses, 
dentist/ dental treatment.  
  
Pregnancy testing  
  
Pregnancy starter equipment – 
up to £500  

Subject to written quotes.   

  

Appointment with GP required.  

After voluntary sector support 
provided.  

Identity Documents  
(Passport/National Insurance 
card/  
Birth Certificate)  

Up to £110   Croydon Young People’s 16+  
Service will cover the cost of 
your 1st application and 1 
renewal up to the age of 21.  

 
Driving license and lessons  1 provisional license 

funded 10 x 1 hour 
lessons; 1theory test;1 
practical test;   

You must provide a contribution 
(the cost of 10 (1 hours) lessons) 
prior to the personal adviser 
booking the overall package 
which would total 20 hours of 
driving lessons.  

Page 29



 
  
12  

Travel and Family time costs  £25 per week for education 
travel  
  
Travel to and from University  
3 times per year.  
  
Travel to spend time with family, 
previous foster carer etc.  

Attendance over 85%  

  
 
 
 
Each situation will need to be 
assessed.  

Setting up home allowance  Up to £3000 for furnishing & 
equipment for care experienced 
young people who turned 18 
from 5th April 2023. Previously 
£2,000 for care experienced 
young people who turned 18 
before April 2023.  

Up to 25  
  
Not provided in cash.  

Wi-fi  Up to £300 per year towards wi-
fi connectivity  

Must be a Croydon Care 
Experienced adult 18-25.  

Crisis payment  One off payment towards food/ 
heating. Up to £50  

Assessment of need by Team  
Manager  

 
 

Moving home or accommodation  
 

Your social worker and personal advisor will visit you, 
and where you live will be agreed in your pathway plan.  
 
When you turn 16, your social worker will become 
involved with you to begin discussions about your 
housing options after you turn 18 as part of your 
pathway plan. There will be reviews of your housing 
options until an 18+ accommodation offer is agreed.  
 
We will work with Croydon housing services to assess 
your accommodation needs and agree the most 
suitable type of accommodation and support for you.   
 

Staying on with foster carers is called ‘Staying Put’, you can stay with your foster carer until you are 21 
years old, or beyond if you are in education. This will not affect your long term move or plans.  

  
If there are any worries that you may struggle to manage independent living, individual packages of 
support can be provided to support you including:   

  
✓ Remaining in supported accommodation after you turn 18 until you are more able to manage 

independent living.  

Page 30



 
  
13  

✓ Outreach support packages, focusing on Health, Education, Employment and Self Care Skills.  

✓ Floating support provided by CAYSH (Croydon Association for Young Single Homeless)  which is a 
dedicated support services for young people their staff are specialists in working with young people 
to set goals and then construct a support plan that break down into manageable steps of tasks, 
experience and learning. www.caysh.org/about-us  

✓ Communicate with Adult Services and other departments within the council where young people meet 
their criteria, to seek appropriate adult accommodation and support services.  

✓ Where young people want to remain in a different borough; we try to work in conjunction with other 
local authority housing departments to advocate on your behalf for entitlement to apply for social 
housing in that area.   

 
 
Some of the types of accommodation available to Care Experienced young people in Croydon include:  
 

 Description  Details  

Foster Carers  Foster Carers can provide care 
for up to three children/young 
people in their own home. They 
will be paid and supported by 
Croydon or an Independent 
Fostering Agency.  

Most care experienced young 
people in Croydon will have lived 
with foster carers. Because 
foster carers are only approved 
to 18 the arrangements for 
staying with your foster carers 
after this age needs to be 
through a ‘staying put’ 
arrangement.  

Staying Put  These are foster carers who 
continue to have young people 
live with them after they 
become young people at 18.  

Staying put arrangements are 
funded through an agreement 
for housing allowances to be 
paid to your staying put carer.  

Shared Lives  Where young people have 
additional needs shared 
lives supports carers.  

Shared lives can support 
people from age 16 onwards. 
Whatever a young person’s 
support needs many young 
people find Shared Lives is an 
ideal way to maintain 
independence whilst having 
support.  

Page 31

http://www.caysh.org/about-us


 
  
14  

Supported Lodgings   This is when you live with a 
single person, a couple, and/or 
with other young people or 
children.   

This provides support toward 
developing independence, 
you will be expected to 
financially contribute but 
continue to have support from 
person/s you are living with.  

Supported Accommodation  This may be a flat, shared 
house or a private house with 
additional support provided to 
help manage day to day 
arrangements.  

Your Personal Adviser or Social 
Worker will discuss what 
additional support is available 
and help to tailor this to your 
needs. These arrangements 
provide less direct care and are 
a half-way step to being 
independent.  

Private Rented  This may be a house, flat or 
studio or house share owned by 
a private You will be responsible 
for your own tenancy.  

Your Personal Advisor will be 
able to discuss with the housing 
team if private rented is the best 
option for you.  

Social Housing   Living independently, this may 
be a house, flat or studio or 
house share owned by a private 
You will be responsible for your 
own tenancy.  

Your Personal Advisor will be 
able to discuss with the housing 
team if social housing is the 
best option for you.  

 
House Project  What is the house project.  

  
The house project works with 
young people on cooperative 
principles through which young 
people leaving care work 
together to refurbish properties 
that become their home and 
build a long terms community of 
support.  

Your Personal Advisor will be 
able to discuss this programme 
with you to consider if this is 
something you would be 
interested in.  

  

Page 32



 
  
15  

Education, employment and training  
Education is essential for you to gain the qualifications you need when looking for employment. 
However, college and university are not the only options. Apprenticeships and training schemes can 
be a good way to learn practical work skills and earn. Volunteering is another excellent option to help 
you gain work skills and get that all important work experience that employers want.  
  
✓ We will support your education, training needs and detail this in your pathway plan. These 

proposals build on information that is already included in your personal education plan (PEP).  
✓ Some young people will not be able to access formal education and training straight away but 

may be working towards these opportunities, such as undertaking English as A Second Language 
(ESOL) classes or volunteering.  

  
Croydon Works  
✓ Croydon works is Croydon’s job and training hub. Who offer a free recruitment service working in 

partnership with Job Centre Plus, Croydon College and Croydon Council. 
https://croydonworks.co.uk  

 
✓ Care Experienced Education, Employment and Training Drop in every Wednesday  
✓ There is drop in every Wednesday at the Turnround Centre between 2 and 4pm where there is 

dedicated advice from Croydon’s Care Experienced Education, Employment and Training Officer.  
 
✓ Croydon Council Apprenticeship programme  
✓ Croydon is committed to also supporting Care Experienced young people with apprenticeships 

both with the Council and with other organisations. Your personal advisor can help you to 
register your interest www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-
apprenticeship-academy  

  

Page 33

https://croydonworks.co.uk/
https://croydonworks.co.uk/
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy


 
  
16  

University students  
We will support you with your education, if you decide to go to 
university, this will include, if you want them to:  
  
✓ Your personal advisor helping you to move to your 

university accommodation.   
✓ Your personal advisor will support you to purchase any 

essential items and taking you to do your first food shop 
on moving to university.   

✓ Connect you with Care Experienced support services at 
the university. 

✓ Helping with applications for the disabled student 
allowance.  

✓ Your personal advisor will arrange to visit you at university 
and will offer you support throughout the duration of your 
studies.  
✓ Your personal advisor will attend your graduation ceremony to celebrate your achievement.   

 You will receive up to a three-year financial support package. The financial support you can access 
includes:  
  
✓ A one-off Computer Grant for a note-pad or lap-top depending on an assessment of need and if 

not previously accessed – up to £300.00.  

✓ A Stationery Grant, Educational Visits and Books and Equipment Grant of up to £225.00 The Grant 
is per academic year (assessed each year).  

✓ A Higher Education Bursary of £2,000.00 which is provided over the period of a two, three or four 
year course. Depending on the length of the course the £2,000.00 per course will be made up of 
£1,000.00 per year (2 year course) £666.67 per year (3 year course) £500.00 per year (4 year 
course)  

✓ A Vacation Accommodation Allowance of up to 22 weeks – Up to the level of the LHA (London 
Housing Allowance) one bedroom self-contained rate and/or the level of university accommodation 
(in the vacation).  

✓ We understand that everyone going to university will have individual needs and where possible if 
a Staying Put arrangement with your foster carer can be made , Croydon Young People’s 16+ 
service who will explore whether this arrangement can be made and make individual arrangements 
based on your needs.  

✓ A Travel Grant to enable you to get to and return to university (three return journeys per academic 
year). The travel grant will be paid at the off-peak rate and at the advanced and pre-booked rate 
of at least one month before the journey.  

✓ A Graduation Grant of up to £1000.00 to cover the cost of the graduation ceremony and gown hire 
etc and to cover relocation costs when leaving university.  

Page 34

http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy


 
  
17  

  
Care Experienced young people applying to and undertaking higher education courses will be required 
to apply for all available universal student funding i.e. maintenance loans, tuition fee loans, as well as 
individual establishment bursaries. These loans and grants and the H.E. Bursary should be used by 
students as their main source of income through-out their term time course of study. This will fund their 
higher education accommodation, living expenses and travel etc.  

  

Travel costs  
  
If you are in full time education or training in London you are entitled to a 18+ Student Oyster photocard 
which gives you 30% off the cost of your fare.  

 

✓ Your personal advisor can help you to apply or you can apply by visiting the website: 
www.tfl.gov.uk/fares-and-payments/ adult-discounts-and concessions/18-student  
  

Transport for London has announced that care leavers aged between 18 and 25, who live in London, will 
be able to apply to receive half price bus and tram travel from early 2024.   
 

✓ Your personal advisor can help you to apply for this scheme when it is made available.  
 

Health and wellbeing  
Being healthy is as much about how your 
emotional health and wellbeing as it is about 
your physical health. It’s really important to 
regularly exercise, eat a balanced diet and 
keep your teeth clean.  

  
It’s equally important to talk to people if 

you’re struggling with anything or feeling 
down so that we can identify the right support 
for you. Sometimes being part of a social 
group through sports, music, study can help 
your emotional wellbeing as well. Your 

pathway plan will also detail any health needs that you may have, remember to keep your Personal 
Advisor updated about your health if anything changes.  

  
There are lots of services and support you can access and we will do our very best to keep you safe. 
We will support and encourage you to be healthy by:  
✓  
✓ Encouraging you to speak up if you are struggling with anything so we can get you the support you 

need.  
✓ Providing a Health Passport as you reach 18 years old. This is a summary of all your health 

information.  

Page 35

http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy
http://www.croydonworks.co.uk/opportunities/4294/croydon-council-apprenticeship-academy


 
  
18  

✓ Helping you to register at a doctor’s surgery, dentist and optician.  

✓ Advice on healthy living which will include anything from safe sex through to having a balanced diet.  

✓ Leisure and Fitness passes to Croydon facilities are available to all Care Experienced young people 
through your personal advisor or social worker.  

 
Mental and emotional health   
Seeking help is the first step towards improving your mental health and wellbeing, but it can be daunting. 
Do not try to handle things on your own if you are struggling to cope, it is always okay to ask for help.   

✓ We will be there to support you.  

✓ We can help you to access support from South London and Maudsley (SLaM) Mental Health Trust 
on their 24-hour helpline 0800 731 2864.  

✓ We can help you to access Oasis on 020 3228 5800 which is a is a health service for young 
people aged 14-35, who are experiencing psychological distress. These experiences might 
include:  
• Struggling to cope at school, college or work  
• Preferring to spend time alone, away from family and friends  
• Feeling anxious, irritable or depressed  
• Changes in sleeping and eating patterns  
• Confused or muddled thinking  
• Feeling that things and people seem strange or unreal  
• Constantly thinking about particular ideas or beliefs  
• Unusual experiences like seeing or hearing things that other people cant.  

  
Eye tests , prescriptions and dental check up  

✓ Croydon Young People’s 16+ Service can support you with the cost of your eye tests, prescriptions 
and dental checkups. Please speak to your personal advisor who can give you more information 
about claiming the costs.   

  
Dedicated Care Experienced Nurses  

✓ Croydon Young People’s 16+ Service has two dedicated nurses for Care Experienced young 
people. Our nurses offer a drop in at the Turnaround Centre on Wednesday from 12pm and will 
also offer you a health assessment when you turn 18 and able to provide any health support and 
advice when needed.  
  

Counselling  
Off The Record Youth Counselling Croydon provide free, independent and professional counselling for 
14-25 year olds in the Croydon area. Since. To discuss the possibility of receiving their support, speak 
to your social worker or personal advisor or call 020 8251 0251 or email them at 
croydon@talkofftherecord.org.  

  
Healthy Eating and Living  
Your Personal Adviser will talk to you about shopping for a balanced diet. The NHS Eat Well has 
information about staying healthy. https://www.nhs.uk/live-well/eat-well/  

Page 36

https://www.nhs.uk/live-well/eat-well/


 
  
19  

  
Sexual Health Services  
As with any other health matter, your personal advisor will be supportive of you and happy to offer their 
support to help you to access sexual health support. Sexual health support is available from Croydon 
Sexual Health Centre based at Croydon University Hospital Croydon Sexual Health Centre also has its 
own Condom Distribution Scheme called the C Card, which will allow you to pick up free condoms from 
a number of places in the borough.   

  

✓ Your personal advisor can help you to seek support by contacting ch-tr.sexualhealth@nhs.net 
0208 401 3766  
  

Drugs and Alcohol support  
If you need support around drug or alcohol, use your personal advisor will discuss this with you in a non- 
judgmental way. Croydon has specialist support available if you do ever have need of it.  
Turning Point is a national service that provides support across a broad spectrum but, in Croydon, it 
runs the Croydon Recovery Network, which includes a service for substance misuse.   
  
✓ Your personal advisor can help you to seek support on 0300 123 9288.   

 

Live Well Croydon  
The Live Well Croydon programme, which is the healthy lifestyle service for residents has a website 
called Just Be Croydon which offers advice, hints and tips on six health topics such as being happy, 
active, alcohol aware, sexually safe, food smart and stopping smoking. Contact 
livewell@croydon.gov.uk or phone 0800 019 8570 or speak to your Personal Advisor who can help you 
to access support.  

  
Domestic abuse  
If you have experienced or experiencing domestic abuse and need support speak to your personal 
advisor who can help you to seek support.  

  
There are services in Croydon who can help. Including:  

  
● The FJC (formerly Family Justice Centre) The centre is run by a skilled experienced team that works 

to provide you and your family access to support services. Our aim is to listen and respond to your 
needs in a safe way. Telephone: 020 8688 0100 or email: fjc@croydon.gov.uk  

● The 24 hour National domestic helpline: The helpline can give support, help and information over the 
telephone, wherever the caller might be in the country. Telephone: 0808 2000 247  

● RASAC: The RASAC Crisis centre in Croydon provides specialist support to female survivors of sexual 
violence. Telephone: 0808 802 9999  

  
✓ Your personal advisor can help you to seek support from these services.   

  

Page 37



 
  
20  

LQBTQ+ support  
The Bridge is a free and confidential service for lesbian, gay, bisexual, trans and questioning (LGBTQ) 
young people aged 11 - 25 in Croydon.  
  

✓ Your personal advisor can help you to access support by contacting 020 8305 5004 or email 
Thebridge@croydon.gov.uk for more details.  
 
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Care leavers who are parents  
Being a parent for the first time can be 
challenging. We want to make sure that 
you get the support you need when you 
are pregnant and during your child’s early 
years.  

  
We can help you in the following ways:  

  
✓ Ensure that you have essential items 

for your baby by accessing correct 
benefits, grants and charities.  
✓ Provide you with up to £500 toward the 

cost of essential items in preparation 
for your baby.  

✓ Offer prospective mothers a birthing partner and someone to accompany you to pre- and post-natal 
health appointments e.g. their personal advisor, ex foster carer, if you would like this.  

✓ Support travel costs for a friend/family member to accompany you to appointments and the hospital 
for the birth.  

Page 38

mailto:Thebridge@croydon.gov.uk


 
  
21  

✓ Provide you with the opportunity to have a Family Group Conference during pregnancy to identify 
support within friends and family network.  

✓ Provide all mothers and fathers to access parenting support from a local children’s centre to help with 
parenting skills, support and advice.  

✓ Provide access to support to assist with claiming relevant benefits and registering the birth of the baby.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Care experienced young people in custody  
We will be there for any of our Care Experienced young people who are in custody. This will include:  

 
✓ Keeping in touch by visiting or writing to you depending on what you want.  

✓ Supporting you to make arrangements so that you have somewhere to live when you are released.  

✓ Supporting you on release to make sure you have the support you need.  

✓ If you are engaging with your personal advisor, we will support you with £20 subsistence payment per 
month.  

✓ Assist you with keeping in touch with friends and family if you want this.  

✓ We can arrange to keep your important documents such as your passport safe until you are released.  

  

Care experienced unaccompanied asylum-
seeking young people  
We will be there to support our care experienced unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people. There 
are organisations in Croydon who can support you if you are a Care experienced unaccompanied asylum-
seeking adult or refugee.  

✓ Your social worker or personal advisor can help you to access the following groups:  

• Injera Club is a youth club in south London for 14-to-21-year-old unaccompanied asylum 
seeking and refugee children and young people from Eritrea, Ethiopia, Sudan and 

Page 39



 
  
22  

Somalia (and their friends). At Injera Club, young people are invited to socialise with 
others, play games, pool, table tennis, football and to enjoy a home-cooked traditional 
meal. We also run workshops and outings. info@daaroyouth.org.uk.  

• Young Roots is a London-based charity working with young refugees and asylum 
seekers aged 11-25, most of whom are alone in the UK without their families. They offer 
support to young people to improve their wellbeing and fulfil their potential, through 
intensive one-to-one Casework, youth and sporting activities, English language 
mentoring, youth leadership and access to specialist therapeutic and legal advice. They 
can be contacted by emailing: london@youngroots.org.uk or 020 8684 9140  

• Refugee Council work directly with Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Young People 
providing independent advice and guidance. They can be contacted on: 0808 175 3499 
or www.refugeecouncil.org.uk/get- support/services/childrens-advice  

  
If you are an unaccompanied asylum-seeking young person your social Worker or personal advisors will 
ensure that you have applied to extend your leave to remain, and the application is submitted to the 
Home Office before your leave status expires. This will enable you to be eligible to claim means tested 
benefits on your 18th birthday.  

  
✓ When developing your pathway plan, your social worker or personal advisor will help you to think 

about your possible status options when you turn 18. Including:  
  

1. A transitional plan during the period of uncertainty when living in the United Kingdom without 
permanent immigration status.  

2. Longer term plan in the United Kingdom should you be granted long term permission to stay (for 
example through the grant of Refugee Status)  

3. A plan for return to your country of origin at any appropriate point or at the end of the immigration 
consideration process, should that be necessary because you decide to leave the UK or are required 
to do so.  

  
✓ The Young People’s 16+ Service can provide up to £1500.00 to any young person who has a 

negative immigration status and No Recourse to Public Funds (NRPF) where it is assessed 
that you are likely to be able to make a successful application that will give them access to 
public funds and services.  

  
British Citizenship  
If you are not a British Citizen but are entitled to apply we can support you to make an application and 
cover the cost of your application: https://www.gov.uk/apply-citizenship-indefinite-leave-to-remain 

 
 

Page 40

https://www.gov.uk/apply-citizenship-indefinite-leave-to-remain


 
  
23  

Care experienced young people aged 21 and 
over 25’s  
We can continue to offer to support to Care Experienced young people aged over 21 years until you 
turn 25 if you want support. If at any point you no longer require a service from us, but later need 
support you can ask to have a service reinstated up until the age of 25 by contacting the Young 
People’s 16+ Service.  
  
From 25 onwards; there will be no more pathway plans but you can still contact the service for 
information, advice and guidance and we will help in any way we can.  

  
  

Advocacy, complaints and independent visitors  
Advocacy provided by Barnardo’s. 

 
Having a voice and knowing your rights are important and this document will hopefully help you to 
understand what support and advice is available to you.  

  
We really want to hear your views, wishes and feelings so you can help us to improve your experience 
of being in care and the support you receive as a care experienced young person. We have a duty to 
listen to you and will treat you fairly and with respect, which is what is expected of you too. We encourage 
you to speak to your personal advisor if there is something you are unhappy about.  

  
It is important for you to know what to do if you feel you are not being listened to. Children’s Services 
are obliged to protect you from harm and provide you with support and services that meet your needs.  

  
You can get in touch with an advocate at Barnardo’s if you talk to someone about your issue, or if you 
want to know more about the service.  

  
Freephone: 0808 800 0017  
Telephone: 020 8509 3432  
E-mail: advocacy2@barnardos.org.uk  

  
Sometimes problems do happen and when they do, we have a policy of trying to sort things out as soon 
as we can. If you feel you have been treated unfairly or discriminated against in any way, or if you are 
unhappy about the support or service you have received, an advocate will help you to address your 
concerns.  

  
Complaints  
Croydon Council Complaints Resolution Team are available to speak to on 020 8726 6000  

  
The easiest way to register a complaint is to email the complaints teams at complaints@croydon.gov.uk 
or you can write to:  

  

Page 41



 
  
24  

Complaint Resolution Team  
5th Floor, Zone D  
Bernard Weatherill House  
8 Mint Walk  
Croydon  
CR0 1EA  

  
Independent Visitors  
You, or your personal advisor can request an independent visitor, this is a volunteer who will spend time 
with you once a month doing things that you are interested in. They will see you for a minimum of a year 
or longer if you want the relationship to continue and they are able to. The idea is for you to have an 
adult you can trust who is not a professional person with a job to do. They are only there to see you and 
spend time with you.  

  

Keeping safe  
We will do our best to support and encourage you to feel safe. But if you are ever worried about your 
immediate safety or in an emergency situation you can phone:  

  
Emergency Services  
999 - for police, fire and ambulance in an emergency  
111 – for police non emergency  
NHS  
111 – for non-emergency, for medical help and advice if it’s not life-threatening.  
  

  Mental health crisis support   
  0800 731 2864 - South London and Maudsley (SLaM) Mental Health Trust 24-hour helpline  

The Samaritans  
116 123 – is a 24 hour helpline, open 365 days a year they offer a safe place for you to talk any time 
you like, in your own way – about whatever’s getting to you.  

  

Facing hardship  
If you are facing hardship or in a crisis, we will be there to help you.   

✓ You can speak to your personal advisor or social worker or a duty worker about your difficulties 
and they will try to help you.  

✓ Your social worker or personal advisor can refer you to Trussell Trust foodbank who provide 
emergency food and support to people facing hardship.   

Page 42



 
  
25  

✓ In emergency situations where you are unable to access the Trussell Trust, we have a food and 
necessities storeroom at the Turnaround Centre which can be accessed by speaking to your 
allocated worker or contacting the duty service.  

 

Contact details  
The contact details of the Young People’s 16+ Service are:  
  
Address: Croydon Turnaround Centre 51-55 S End, Croydon CR0 1BF  
Telephone: 0208 7605519  
Email: CEYPduty@croydon.gov.uk   
  
There is a duty worker available Monday to Friday between 9am – 5pm at Bernard Weatherill House, 8 
Mint walk Croydon, CR0 1EA.  

  
Croydon Social Care Emergency Duty Team  
  
Out of Hours Support If you require emergency support out of office working hours (9am - 5pm / 
Monday to Friday), or in need of emergency Social Worker support that cannot wait until the next 
working day, then you can ring our Emergency Duty Service by calling the Contact Centre on 0208 
726 6400 and asking for the Out of Hours social work team.  
 

 
 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



Indicator 
Number

Indicator Title Polarity Oct-22 Nov-22 Dec-22 Jan-23 Feb-23 Mar-23 Apr-23 May-23 Jun-23 Jul-23 Aug-23 Sep-23 Oct-23 Trend       RO
2023-24 
Target

Rolling 3 
month 

average 
(RTMA) or 

latest

 R
AG

2023-24 
YTD or 
latest

DfE 
Published 
Croydon 
2021-22

Stats Nbr 
Average 
2021-22

London
2021-22

England
2021-22

2023-342022-23

CLA 1 Number of CLA at the end of the month 538 539 537 540 529 527 534 530 524 515 511 504 506 CJ NA 506 Grey 506 550 531 9,960 82,170

CLA 2 Rate of CLA per 10,000 under 18 population 59.6 59.7 59.5 59.8 58.6 58.4 59.2 58.7 58.1 57.1 56.6 55.9 56.1 CJ NA 56.1 Grey 56.1 61.0 57.3 52.0 70.0

CLA 2a
Rate of CLA per 10,000 under 18 population 
excluding UASC

SIB 49.3 49.2 48.4 48.3 47.7 47.1 47.9 47.9 47.5 46.8 46.2 45.3 45.7 CJ 49.9 45.7 Green 45.7

CLA 3
Number of CLA at the end of the month who are 
Local CLA (Non-UASC)

SIB 445 444 437 436 430 425 432 432 429 422 417 409 412 CJ 450 412 Green 412

CLA 3b
Number of Ceased CLA in the month who are Local 
CLA (Non-UASC)

22 16 17 16 12 5 17 11 10 17 23 15 8 CJ NA 15 Grey 101

CLA 4
Number of CLA at the end of the month who are 
UASC

93 95 100 104 99 102 102 98 95 93 94 95 94 CJ 95 - 103 94 Green 94.0 105 49 1,580 5,570

CLA 4b Number of Ceased CLA in the month who are UASC 7 7 2 14 6 2 6 9 7 5 2 4 4 CJ NA 3 Grey 37

CLA 5 Number of new CLA in month (total) 24 22 19 27 12 24 11 18 14 17 18 21 12 CJ NA 17 Grey 111 247 229 5,150 31,010

CLA 6 Number of new CLA in month who are UASC 7 6 8 12 5 6 2 1 7 5 3 6 3 CJ NA 4 Grey 27

CLA 7
Rate of adolescents entering care per 10,000 (13-17 
year olds) population excl. UASC 

24.9 24.2 24.2 24.2 23.8 23.0 9.7 24.2 22.6 26.6 28.1 28.2 26.3 CJ NA 26.3 Grey 26.3

CLA 8
Rate of adolescents leaving care per 10,000 (13-17 
year olds) population excl. UASC

35.9 36.3 37.1 35.3 35.2 32.7 14.5 31.4 33.9 30.2 38.7 37.1 35.3 CJ NA 35.3 Grey 35.3

CLA 9
Percentage of the under 18 years population who are 
UASC 

0.103% 0.105% 0.111% 0.115% 0.110% 0.113% 0.113% 0.109% 0.105% 0.103% 0.104% 0.105% 0.104% CJ
0.105% - 
0.114%

0.104% Green 0.104%

CLA 10
Percentage of CLA for whom a visit has taken place 
within statutory timescales (6 weekly Visits)

BIB 94% 95% 94% 92% 91% 90% 91% 92% 95% 96% 94% 95% 93% CJ 95% 93% Amber 93%

CLA 11
Percentage of CLA children with an up-to-date review 
(Provisional Figure)

BIB 97% 99% 98% 95% 93% 93% 88% 89% 96% 93% 93% 91% 81% DW 95% 88% Amber 90%

CLA 12
Percentage of CLA who have participated in Reviews 
(aged 4+) in the month

BIB 93% 91% 93% 95% 88% 98% 84% 99% 95% 84% 91% 92% 96% DW 80% 93% Green 91%

CLA 13
CLA 13 - Percentage of CLA at SSA (Statutory 
School Age) with a Personal Education Plan (PEP) 
reviewed & completed in the last 6 months.

BIB 90% 77% 99% 95% 97% 90% 94% 92% 98% 94% 92% 91% 96% CJ 90% 96% Green 96%

CLA 14
Percentage of eligible CLA with an up-to-date Care 
Plan (6 months)

BIB 87% 79% 82% 92% 95% 93% 89% 87% 89% 84% 92% 90% 91% CJ 90% 91% Green 91%

CLA 15
Percentage of eligible CLA with an up-to-date  
Pathway Plan

BIB 79% 77% 76% 83% 81% 78% 63% 68% 71% 70% 83% 84% 81% CJ 90% 81% Amber 81%

Children Looked After (CLA)

P
age 45

A
genda Item

 10



Indicator 
Number

Indicator Title Polarity Oct-22 Nov-22 Dec-22 Jan-23 Feb-23 Mar-23 Apr-23 May-23 Jun-23 Jul-23 Aug-23 Sep-23 Oct-23 Trend       RO
2023-24 
Target

Rolling 3 
month 

average 
(RTMA) or 

latest

 R
AG

2023-24 
YTD or 
latest

DfE 
Published 
Croydon 
2021-22

Stats Nbr 
Average 
2021-22

London
2021-22

England
2021-22

2023-342022-23

CLA 19
Percentage of CLA that have been in care for 12+ 
months aged below 16 and who have had same 
social worker for last 6 months 

BIB 65% 66% 64% 69% 63% 62% 65% 68% 68% 62% CJ 65% 62% Amber 62%

CLA t19
Percentage of CLA that have been in care for 12+ 
months, that have had same social worker for last 6 
months

BIB 52% 59% 63% 70% 67% 65% 67% 63% 60% 61% 62% 66% 61% CJ 65% 61% Amber 61%

CLA 20
Percentage of CLA under 16 in care for more than 
2.5 years: in the same placement for 2+ years

BIB 72% 72% 71% 71% 71% 74% 73% 72% 72% 73% 73% 73% 73% CJ 75% 73% Amber 73%

CLA 21
Percentage of CLA at end of month with 3 or more 
placements during the year

SIB 6% 7% 6% 7% 7% 7% 7% 7% 7% 7% 8% 8% 7% CJ 8% 7% Green 7% 6.00% 11.00% 10.00% 10.00%

CLA 22 Percentage of CLA placed <20 miles from home BIB 81% 81% 82% 82% 82% 82% 82% 81% 81% 82% 81% 81% 81% CJ 90% 81% Amber 81%

CLA 23 Number of CLA allocated to CWD 15 17 17 18 17 17 17 17 16 16 16 16 16 BG NA 16 Grey 16

CLA 24
Percentage of CLA for whom a visit has taken place 
within statutory timescales (Allocated to CWD teams/ 
6 weekly) 

BIB 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% BG 95% 100% Green 100%

CLA 25
Number of CLA who returned home (E4A, E4B, E13, 
E41)

BIB 11 8 7 9 2 2 2 1 2 0 1 1 1 CJ NA 1 Grey 8 73 1400 8370

P
age 46



Indicator 
Number

Indicator Title Polarity Oct-22 Nov-22 Dec-22 Jan-23 Feb-23 Mar-23 Apr-23 May-23 Jun-23 Jul-23 Aug-23 Sep-23 Oct-23 Trend       RO
2023-24 
Target

Rolling 3 
month 

average 
(RTMA) or 

latest

 R
AG

2023-24 
YTD or 
latest

DfE 
Published 
Croydon 
2021-22

Stats Nbr 
Average 
2021-22

London
2021-22

England
2021-22

2023-342022-23

CLA Health

CLA 16
Percentage of children in care for at least 12 months 
for whom health assessments are up to date.

BIB 90% 87% 87% 82% 80% 79% 83% 83% 86% 86% 83% 83% 83%
CLA 

Health 
Team

95% 83% Red 83% 94% 88% 92% 89%

CLA 16a

Number of children in care for at least 12 months for 
whom health assessments were due in the month 
(RHA’s completed in the year to date/Health reviews 
due in the year from April to date)

9/47 10/55 14/58 26/90 14/84 12/87 10/68 11/71 12/62 5/54 5/61 4/64 6/64
CLA 

Health 
Team

NA 6/64 Grey 6/64

CLA 17
Percentage of initial health assessments requested 
for health service within 3 working days of date child 
become looked after.

BIB 14% 55% 41% 58% 22% 8% 22% 43% 50% 59% 50% 75% TBC
CLA 

Health 
Team

NA TBC Grey TBC

CLA 18
Percentage of initial health assessments delivered 
within 20 working days of date child became looked 
after.

BIB 35% 45% 44% 54% 56% 13% 13% 36% 54% 40% 21% 20%
TBC 

(monthly 
time lag)

CLA 
Health 
Team

85% 20% Red 20%

Fostering

F 1 Total number of foster carer households BIB 186 182 177 184 186 177 175 171 170 169 165 162 161 BG NA 161 Grey 161

F 2 Percentage of DBS Checks within time BIB 99% 97% 97% 96% 95% 96% 95% 94% 95% 98% 98% 99% 95% BG 95% 95% Green 95%

F 3
Percentage of Annual Reviews of Foster Carers 
completed on time

BIB 90% 95% 92% 97% 97% 94% 93% 98% 94% 97% 93% 90% 93% BG 95% 93% Amber 93%

F 4
Percentage of Foster Carers' most recent announced 
visit within timescales (6 weekly)

BIB 93% 93% 79% 77% 82% 75% 89% 94% 90% 91% 77% 84% 96% BG 95% 96% Green 96%

Adoption

AD 0 Number of Adoption Orders achieved in the month BIB 1 1 2 0 0 1 1 1 1 0 2 0 TBC CJ NA TBC Grey 1

AD 1 Number of ADM Decisions made in the month BiB 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 4 0 0 TBC CJ NA TBC Grey 1

AD 2 Number of Placement Order granted in the month 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 TBC CJ NA TBC Grey 1

AD 3
Number of children placed with prospective Adopters 
in the month

BiB 1 0 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 TBC CJ NA TBC Grey 0

AD 7

Average time between a child entering care and 
moving in with the adoptive family , for children who 
have been adopted (days) (12 Months rolling 
average)

SIB 533 533 604 554 571 571 582 615 615 615 631 631 TBC CJ 558 TBC Red TBC

AD 8

Average time between the LA receiving court 
authority to place a child and the LA deciding on a 
match to an adoptive family (days) (12 months rolling 
average)

SIB 156 156 303 300 321 321 321 346 354 354 315 315 TBC CJ 226 TBC Red TBC

AD 9
Number of special guardianship orders made in the 
month (from care)

BIB 3 3 1 0 2 1 3 1 2 3 0 1 1 BG NA 1 Grey 3

P
age 47



Indicator 
Number

Indicator Title Polarity Oct-22 Nov-22 Dec-22 Jan-23 Feb-23 Mar-23 Apr-23 May-23 Jun-23 Jul-23 Aug-23 Sep-23 Oct-23 Trend       RO
2023-24 
Target

Rolling 3 
month 

average 
(RTMA) or 

latest

 R
AG

2023-24 
YTD or 
latest

DfE 
Published 
Croydon 
2021-22

Stats Nbr 
Average 
2021-22

London
2021-22

England
2021-22

2023-342022-23

CEYP a
Care experienced young people with an Up-to-date 
Pathway plan

BIB 79% 77% 79% 88% 91% 84% 76% 77% 77% 75% 91% 94% 92% CJ 85% 92% Green 92%

CEYP 1b
Number of Care experienced young people in 
employment, education, or training (EET) now aged 
19 to 21 

BIB 281 287 282 277 276 279 279 279 275 276 276 272 279 CJ NA 279 Grey 279 260 176 4310 18610

CEYP 1c
Percentage in employment, education, or training 
(EET) now aged 19 to 21  

BIB 61% 60% 60% 61% 60% 59% 60% 60% 59% 60% 60% 60% 62% CJ 60% 62% Green 62% 44% 59% 59% 55%

CEYP 2b
Number of Care experienced young people not in 
employment, education, or training (NEET) now aged 
19 to 21 

SIB 165 173 172 174 179 182 181 177 183 177 176 168 163 CJ NA 163 Grey 163 171 100 2360 12650

CEYP 2c
Percentage not in employment, education, or training 
(NEET) now aged 19 to 21 (Excluding the unknowns)

SIB 36% 36% 37% 38% 39% 39% 39% 38% 39% 38% 38% 37% 36% CJ NA 36% Grey 36% 29% 33% 32% 38%

CEYP 3b
Number of Care experienced young people in 
suitable accommodation now aged 19 to 21

BIB 412 426 422 418 425 430 430 428 432 430 429 418 421 CJ NA 421 Grey 421 414 256 6250 29270

CEYP 3c
Percentage in suitable accommodation now aged 19 
to 21

BIB 89% 89% 90% 91% 91% 91% 91% 91% 92% 92% 92% 91% 91% CJ 90% 91% Green 91% 70% 87% 86% 88%

CEYP 5a
Percentage in touch with the authority now aged 19 to 
21 

BIB 97% 97% 98% 98% 98% 98% 98% 98% 98% 98% 97% 96% 96% CJ 95% 96% Green 96% 72% 91% 90% 92%

CEYP 6
Care experienced young people - LOCAL (non-
UASC)

297 308 307 309 315 324 323 329 333 337 341 345 348 CJ NA 348 Grey 348

CEYP 7
Care experienced young people - UASC (non-
LOCAL)

423 430 425 432 436 433 438 439 445 444 443 442 447 CJ NA 447 Grey 447

CEYP 8
Number of young people who have Appeals Rights 
Exhausted

4 4 3 6 6 6 6 6 7 6 6 6 5 CJ NA 5 Grey 5

Care Leavers

P
age 48



Children In Care & Care Experienced Young People - October 2023

Local UASC Male Female 0-4 5-9 10-14 15-16 17-18 Disabled 83% England average 89% (21/22)

Children In 
Care 506 412 94 300 206 67 65 135 140 99 44

Local UASC Male Female 16 17-18 19-21 22+ Disabled 62% England average 70% (21/22)

Care Experienced 
(OPEN) 795 348 447 566 229 0 91 462 242 53

Ethnicity 
Description

A1 - White British A2 - White Irish
A3 - Any other 

White background
A5 - Gypsy / Roma

B1 - White and 
Black Caribbean

B2 - White and 
Black African

B3 - White and 
Asian

B4 - Any other 
mixed background

C1 - Indian C2 - Pakistani
C4 - Any other 

Asian background
D1 - Caribbean D2 - African

D3 - Any other 
Black background

E1 - Chinese
E2 - Any other 
ethnic group

E4 - Information 
not yet obtained

No of CLA 112 3 40 1 45 10 13 34 3 6 55 71 58 33 6 16 0

% 22.1% 0.6% 7.9% 0.2% 8.9% 2.0% 2.6% 6.7% 0.6% 1.2% 10.9% 14.0% 11.5% 6.5% 1.2% 3.2% 0.0%

88% England average 90% 
(21/22) 76% N/A 73%

91% England average 88% 
(21/22) 62% England average 55% 

(21/22) 7%

91% 93% 161

92% 96% England average 92% 
(21/22) 93% England average 71% 

(21/22)

95

of Care Leavers with an up to date Pathway Plan

of CLA for whom a visit has taken place within 
statutory timescales (6 weekly) 

of 19 to 21 year olds in touch with the authority 

of eligible CLA with an up to date Care Plan (6 
months) 

of children looked after who have had 
their annual health assessment

of children looked after who had their 
teeth checked by a dentist

of 17- and 18-year-old care experienced 
young people in  education, employment or 

training

of CLA under 16 in care for more than 2.5 
years: in the same placement for 2+ years

of 17- and 18-year-old care experienced 
young people in suitable accommodation

of 19-, 20- and 21-year-old care experienced 
young people in suitable accommodation

of 19-, 20- and 21-year-old care experienced 
young people in  education, employment or 

training

of children looked after with three or more 
placement moves in the last twelve months

Total number of foster carer households

of Annual Reviews of Foster Carers completed 
on time 

62

Ac
co

m
od

at
io

n

EE
T

Pl
ac

em
en

ts

Health

Pl
an

s

Ke
ep

in
g

in
To

uc
h

Fo
st

er
in

g

P
age 49



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	7 Housing Sub-Group discussion - Housing Priority 1 of the Corporate Parenting Strategy
	8 Local Offer for Care Experienced Young People
	Introduction to Croydon’s Local Offer to our Care Experienced Young People 2023-2024
	What is a Corporate Parent?
	Croydon Care Experienced Service
	Our promise to you
	What is the difference between a Social Worker and a Personal Advisor?
	What is a Pathway Plan?
	Life skills workbook
	The Care Leaver Covenant
	Getting involved
	Money matters, official documents and special birthdays
	Moving home or accommodation
	Education, employment and training
	University students
	Health and wellbeing 
	Care leavers who are parents
	Care leavers in custody
	Unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people
	Care leavers aged 21 and over 25’s
	Advocacy, complaints and independent visitors
	Keeping safe
	Facing hardship
	Contact details 
	Content of Croydons Local Offer to our Care Experienced Young People - November 23
	Welcome to Croydon’s Local Offer to our Care Experienced young people 2023-2024
	Contents
	Croydon Young People’s 16+ Service
	Our promise to you
	The Care Leaver Covenant
	Getting involved
	Free leisure centre membership
	Children in Care Council (E.M.P.I.R.E)
	Legacy Youth Zone
	Esther support group
	The Princes Trust

	Money matters, official documents and birthdays
	Help with your council tax bill
	Remembering your birthday

	Moving home or accommodation
	Education, employment and training
	Croydon Works
		Care Experienced Education, Employment and Training Drop in every Wednesday
		Croydon Council Apprenticeship programme

	University students
	Travel costs
	Health and wellbeing
	Mental and emotional health
	Eye tests , prescriptions and dental check up
	Dedicated Care Experienced Nurses
	Counselling
	Healthy Eating and Living
	Sexual Health Services
	Drugs and Alcohol support
	Live Well Croydon
	Domestic abuse
	LQBTQ+ support

	Care leavers who are parents
	Care experienced young people in custody
	Care experienced unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people
	British Citizenship

	Care experienced young people aged 21 and over 25’s
	Advocacy, complaints and independent visitors
	Advocacy provided by Barnardo’s.
	Complaints
	Independent Visitors

	Keeping safe
	Emergency Services
	The Samaritans

	Facing hardship
	Contact details
	Croydon Social Care Emergency Duty Team





	10 Performance Report
	CPP Performance Tables October 2023


